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Mr. Mario Dion 
Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner 
66 Slater Street, 22nd Floor 
Ottawa, ON 
 
November 17, 2020 
 
Re: Addendum to the investigation into conduct of former Finance Minister Bill Morneau  
 
Dear Commissioner Dion, 
 
Since writing to you in July, there have been a number of developments that has occurred 

regarding WE Charity and its relationship with senior members of the Trudeau government. 

As you are aware, on August 17th, 2020, the Government released over 5500+ of pages of 

documents that had been requested by the Standing Committee on Finance.  Our initial analysis 

of these documents was focused on the interactions between WE Charity, Cabinet Ministers 

and senior government officials in the creation and awarding of the Canada Student Service 

Grant (CSSG).   

However, in reviewing a number of these documents, serious questions have arisen about 

another conflict of interest relating to former Finance Minister Bill Morneau and WE Charity; 

this time for the approval of a $12 million contribution for a Social Entrepreneurship initiative.  

What is also striking about this is that speed in which this occurred, only 11 days from the 

proposal arriving in his office to his decision.  Seeing the many close ties between the 

Kielburgers and Morneau and his family, it would seem like this decision over Social 

Entrepreneurship initiative was in violation of the Conflict of Interest Act.  Here’s what we 

found. 

On April 10th WE Charity Founder Craig Kielburger emailed the former Finance Minister directly 

with a proposal entitled “Closing the COVID-19 Opportunity Gap for Young People through 

Social Entrepreneurship”. [Appendix 1].  The email is written in a friendly and familiar way and 

he spells out the details of the project that he wishes to get funded.  



 2 

 

 

Within an extremely short time of 11 days, Minister Morneau approved the funding on April 

21st.  

In the Finance Minister’s Annex 4, under the heading of “Minister of Finance Decision”, 

Morneau not only allocated $900 million for the CSSG but also WE’s April 9th Social 

Entrepreneurship Proposal.  The text reads “In addition, the Minister decided to provide up to 

$12 million to Employment and Social Development Canada to support WE Social 

Entrepreneurship initiative.”  [Appendix 2] 

At the Standing Committee on Finance on July 22, 2020, Bill Morneau did address his 

engagement with Craig Kielburger on the $12 million proposal. Here’s what he had to say about 

a briefing he had on April 18th: 

As a part of my briefing materials, my officials appended a copy of WE's social 

entrepreneurship proposal, indicating that other departments had begun engaging on 

the file. I understand that in the following days WE reached out to my office regarding 

their initial discussions with Employment and Social Development Canada and shared a 

second proposal. My office continued discussions with WE Charity about how different 

types of student programming could be administered.  

Note that Morneau does not tell committee that he had received this proposal directly from 

Craig Kielburger eight days before. He also fails to mention that he approved funding for the 

$12 million WE proposal in addition to the $900 million CSSG: 

On April 21, I verbally approved my department's recommendations on the broad 

parameters of the Canada student service grant, including the potential involvement of a 

third party. 

What is most disturbing is that when asked directly about any conversations with the Kielburger 

brothers he explicitly states he did not discuss any financial deals with WE. He states: 
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For complete transparency, I note than on Sunday, April 26, I spoke with Craig 

Kielburger. I know that we would have broadly discussed the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic. He did not raise the Canada student service grant, nor did I. 

However, this claim is directly contradicted by Craig Kielburger at the July 22nd meeting of the 
Standing Committee on Finance, Craig Kielburger states that he did talk to the former Finance 
Minister discussed not the CSSG but the Social Entrepreneurship.  WE included this fact in their 
retroactive reporting  on their lobbying activities.  On page 2 of this document, it reads: “Call to 
check in regarding the pandemic and its impact on non-profits. Discussed WE’s social 
entrepreneurship proposal.” 
 

The ultimate fate of this funding request is unknown.  At the Standing Committee on Finance 

on July 30th, the Prime Minister’s Chief of Staff, Katie Telford testified that this project did not 

pass cabinet:   

Ms. Katie Telford: When the first proposal came through, in terms of the briefing note 

that I saw, it was actually recommended by our policy team to not proceed with that 

proposal. That was the total sum of the advice on that proposal—that we not proceed 

on it. 

However, a report from PCO suggests that it was not stopped, just pushed back in order for the 

proposal to be reworked. [Appendix 3] The PCO recommendation reads: 

That the $ 12 million allocated by the Minister of Finance for the WE Social 
Entrepreneurship Initiative not to be funded at this time and that the Minister of 
Employment, Workforce Development and Disability Inclusion be requested to work with 
WE to redevelop this proposal in order to increase accessibility for those in most need. 

It is safe to say that far from being dead, this project could have still gone forward.   

Commissioner, in my original correspondence to you regarding Mr. Morneau’s failure to recuse 

himself from the decision-making process around the CSSG as one of his daughters worked at 

WE Charity which would seem to be a violation of 6(1) of the Conflict of Interest Act.  Yet I 

believe that the $12 million proposal shows that Mr. Morneau conflict was not only with his 

daughter’s employment, but over his own close relationship with the Kielburgers. This raises 

questions as to whether this proposal which was approved so quickly was subject to 

preferential treatment. 

Section 4 of the Act clearly states that it’s not just family that can put you into conflict but 

friends as well.  Over the years, both Morneau and his wife seems to have built a friendly 

relationship with the Kielburgers.  Not only did he have one daughter working for them, but 

https://staticsb.we.org/f/52095/x/1b80b76815/meetings-with-ministers_.pdf
https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-36.65/page-2.html#h-92089
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they also provided a positive blurb for his other’s daughter’s book selected her to be a speaker 

at a WE Day event—an opportunity that the Kielburger’s call a special honour.   

In their retroactive disclosure it also seems that WE had more contact with Morneau than any 

other cabinet minister. He held a pre-budget event at their headquarters and he took part in an 

Dragon Den-style event they put on.   

However, the government documents do also point to factor in their relationship.  One of the 

hallmarks of WE’s style of unregistered lobbying was Craig Kielburger’s direct emails to cabinet 

ministers.  However, we can see a distinct difference in how Craig Kielburger addresses 

Minister’s Ng and Chagger and how he addresses Morneau.   

In Appendix 4 contains three emails, one each to Ministers Ng, Chagger, and Morneau.  In his 

emails to the first two, Craig Kielburger refers to them formally by their titles and last name:  

“Hi Minister Ng” and “Hi Minister Chagger”.   

However, with the former Finance Minister, it is always “Hi Bill”.  The tone of the emails is also 

much more personal.  In the email quoted above you can see Kielburger asking after his family, 

wishing them well—like friends do.   

This friendship even extended into the Finance Minister’s office, with one senior official calling 

WE and the Minister’s Office “besties”.   

Section 4 of the Act does not spell out what constitutes a “friend”.  However, it think it is safe to 

say, that with the extensive connections between WE Charity, the Kielburgers and Morneau 

and his family, that they could probably be called friends. 

It is certainly reasonable for public officials to develop close relationships with businesses, 

constituents and people who advocate for various causes. However what is not appropriate is 

for the friendship to be used to bypass the normal channels of departmental review and 

program funding. The decision to approve a $12 million request in a mere 11 days raises many 

red flags. The fact that Mr. Morneau covered up his involvement in the awarding of this project 

is even more concerning.  

By deciding to allocate $ 12 million to WE’s Social Entrepreneurship initiative [Appendix 2] 

without recusing himself, Mr. Morneau may be in violation of section 4 (Conflict of interest), 

6(1) (Decision-making), and section 7 (Preferential treatment).   

As Morneau said in his opening statement at the Finance Committee: 

As I've said, I should not have participated in that discussion, and I regret that I did not 

recuse myself at that time. I provided approval on the final revised funding decision for 

https://www.theglobeandmail.com/politics/article-morneau-kielburgers-described-as-besties-in-newly-released/
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the program on June 3. It was my last direct engagement with the program's 

development. I regret that my not recusing myself has been a reason that students have 

not been able to get the support on a timely basis. 

If he should have recused himself from the cabinet decision on WE Charity and the CSSG then it 

also stands that he should have never made the decision on their Social Entrepreneurship 

initiative on April 21st a decision that certainly raises questions about the Kielburgers receiving 

preferential treatment from the minister. 

Commissioner, I understand that you must be well on your way in your investigation.  However, 
I believe these questions need to be resolved in regards to questions relating to the relationship 
between Bill Morneau and the Kielburger organization.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Charlie Angus, MP   
Timmins—James Bay   
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